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STATEMENT OF INVESTMENTS
Dreyfus Municipal Income, Inc.
December 31, 2015 (Unaudited)

Long-Term Municipal Coupon Maturity Principal

Investments--148.8% Rate (%) Date Amount ($) Value ($)

Alabama--1.4%

Jefferson County,

Sewer Revenue Warrants 0/7.75 10/1/46 4,000,000 a 2,850,960

Arizona--7.8%

Barclays Capital Municipal Trust

Receipts (Series 21 W)

Recourse (Salt River Project

Agricultural Improvement and

Power District, Salt River

Project Electric System

Revenue) 5.00 1/1/38 9,998,763 b,c 10,659,163

Pima County Industrial Development

Authority, Education Revenue

(American Charter Schools

Foundation Project) 5.63 7/1/38 1,000,000 942,280

Pinal County Electrical District

Number 4, Electric System

Revenue (Prerefunded) 6.00 12/1/18 1,300,000 d 1,484,548

Salt Verde Financial Corporation,

Senior Gas Revenue 5.00 12/1/37 2,190,000 2,542,699

California--23.2%

California,

GO (Various Purpose) 5.75 4/1/31 3,950,000 4,551,190

California,

GO (Various Purpose) 6.00 3/1/33 1,250,000 1,504,425

California,

GO (Various Purpose) 6.50 4/1/33 3,000,000 3,525,210

California,

GO (Various Purpose) 6.00 11/1/35 2,500,000 2,965,800

Chula Vista,

IDR (San Diego Gas and

Electric Company) 5.88 2/15/34 2,000,000 2,285,860
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JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 3869)

Non-recourse (Los Angeles

Department of Airports, Senior

Revenue (Los Angeles

International Airport)) 5.25 5/15/18 10,000,000 b,c 11,611,300

JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 4414)

Non-recourse (Los Angeles

Department of Airports, Senior

Revenue (Los Angeles

International Airport)) 5.00 5/15/21 4,000,000 b,c 4,522,640

JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 4421)

Non-recourse (The Regents of

the University of California,

General Revenue) 5.00 5/15/21 3,750,000 b,c 4,383,000

Sacramento County,

Airport System Subordinate and

Passenger Facility Charges

Grant Revenue 6.00 7/1/35 2,250,000 2,502,832

Santa Ana Community Redevelopment

Agency, Tax Allocation Revenue

(Merged Project Area) 6.75 9/1/28 3,000,000 3,631,890

Tobacco Securitization Authority

of Southern California,

Tobacco Settlement

Asset-Backed Bonds (San Diego

County Tobacco Asset

Securitization Corporation) 5.00 6/1/37 3,500,000 3,278,695

Tuolumne Wind Project Authority,

Revenue (Tuolumne Company

Project) 5.88 1/1/29 1,500,000 1,710,795

Colorado--6.6%

Colorado Educational and Cultural

Facilities Authority, Charter

School Revenue (American

Academy Project) (Prerefunded) 8.00 12/1/18 1,500,000 d 1,818,735
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E-470 Public Highway Authority,

Senior Revenue 5.25 9/1/25 1,000,000 1,123,670

E-470 Public Highway Authority,

Senior Revenue 5.38 9/1/26 1,000,000 1,124,370

JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 4386)

Non-recourse (Board of

Governors of the Colorado

State University, System

Enterprise Revenue) 5.00 3/1/20 2,550,000 b,c 2,864,084

RIB Floater Trust (Barclays Bank

PLC) (Series 25 U-1) Recourse

(Colorado Springs, Utilities

System Improvement Revenue) 5.00 11/15/43 4,000,000 b,c 4,554,080

University of Colorado Regents,

University Enterprise Revenue

(Prerefunded) 5.38 6/1/19 1,500,000 d 1,713,435

District of Columbia--4.2%

RIB Floater Trust (Barclays Bank

PLC) (Series 15 U) Recourse

(District of Columbia, Income

Tax Secured Revenue) 5.00 12/1/35 6,999,163 b,c 8,316,038

Florida--8.2%

Citizens Property Insurance

Corporation, Coastal Account

Senior Secured Revenue 5.00 6/1/25 2,000,000 2,419,180

Davie,

Educational Facilities Revenue

(Nova Southeastern University

Project) 5.63 4/1/43 1,000,000 1,150,860

Greater Orlando Aviation

Authority, Airport Facilities

Revenue 6.25 10/1/20 3,980,000 4,644,143

Halifax Hospital Medical Center,

HR 4.00 6/1/41 1,000,000 1,013,700

Mid-Bay Bridge Authority,

Springing Lien Revenue

(Prerefunded) 7.25 10/1/21 2,500,000 d 3,280,150
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Saint Johns County Industrial

Development Authority, Revenue

(Presbyterian Retirement

Communities Project) 5.88 8/1/40 2,500,000 2,783,475

South Lake County Hospital

District, Revenue (South Lake

Hospital, Inc.) 6.25 4/1/39 1,000,000 1,132,710

Georgia--2.7%

Atlanta,

Water and Wastewater Revenue

(Prerefunded) 6.00 11/1/19 3,000,000 d 3,548,340

Atlanta Development Authority,

Senior Lien Revenue (New

Downtown Atlanta Stadium

Project) 5.25 7/1/40 1,500,000 1,762,275

Hawaii--1.4%

Hawaii Department of Budget and

Finance, Special Purpose

Revenue (Hawaiian Electric

Company, Inc. and Subsidiary

Projects) 6.50 7/1/39 2,400,000 2,723,256

Illinois--10.7%

Chicago,

General Airport Third Lien

Revenue (Chicago O'Hare

International Airport) 5.63 1/1/35 1,000,000 1,159,270

Chicago,

GO 5.00 1/1/24 1,000,000 1,053,420

Chicago,

GO 5.50 1/1/39 1,500,000 1,571,535

Chicago,

GO (Project and Refunding

Series) 5.00 1/1/36 1,500,000 1,488,765

Chicago,

Second Lien Wastewater

Transmission Revenue 5.00 1/1/39 1,100,000 1,202,454

Chicago,

Second Lien Water Revenue 5.00 11/1/28 1,000,000 1,127,110
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Chicago,

Second Lien Water Revenue 5.00 11/1/29 1,000,000 1,123,310

Chicago,

Second Lien Water Revenue

(Insured; AMBAC) 5.00 11/1/32 2,000,000 2,027,460

Illinois,

GO 5.00 8/1/24 1,000,000 1,087,230

JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 4360)

Non-recourse (Greater Chicago

Metropolitan Water Reclamation

District, GO Capital

Improvement Bonds) 5.00 12/1/19 2,500,000 b,c 2,851,175

Metropolitan Pier and Exposition

Authority, Revenue (McCormick

Place Expansion Project) 5.00 12/15/28 1,500,000 1,660,335

Metropolitan Pier and Exposition

Authority, Revenue (McCormick

Place Expansion Project) 5.00 6/15/53 1,500,000 1,577,790

Railsplitter Tobacco Settlement

Authority, Tobacco Settlement

Revenue 6.00 6/1/28 2,000,000 2,388,200

University of Illinois Board of

Trustees, Auxiliary Facilities

System Revenue 5.13 4/1/36 1,000,000 1,107,070

Iowa--1.1%

Iowa Student Loan Liquidity

Corporation, Student Loan

Revenue 5.75 12/1/28 2,020,000 2,164,147

Louisiana--.6%

Louisiana Public Facilities

Authority, Revenue (CHRISTUS

Health Obligated Group) 6.13 7/1/29 1,000,000 1,146,800

Maine--.8%

Maine Health and Higher

Educational Facilities

Authority, Revenue

(MaineGeneral Medical Center
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Issue) 7.50 7/1/32 1,250,000 1,500,263

Maryland--3.1%

JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 4422)

Non-recourse (Mayor and City

Council of Baltimore, Project

Revenue (Water Projects)) 5.00 7/1/21 2,000,000 b,c 2,289,510

Maryland Economic Development

Corporation, EDR

(Transportation Facilities

Project) 5.75 6/1/35 1,000,000 1,095,890

Maryland Economic Development

Corporation, PCR (Potomac

Electric Project) 6.20 9/1/22 2,500,000 2,862,350

Massachusetts--10.7%

Barclays Capital Municipal Trust

Receipts (Series 15 W)

Recourse (Massachusetts Health

and Educational Facilities

Authority, Revenue

(Massachusetts Institute of

Technology Issue)) 5.00 7/1/38 10,000,000 b,c 10,636,600

JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 4395)

Non-recourse (University of

Massachusetts Building

Authority, Project and

Refunding Revenue) 5.00 5/1/21 3,698,335 b,c 4,166,274

Massachusetts Development Finance

Agency, Revenue (Tufts Medical

Center Issue) 7.25 1/1/32 1,500,000 1,812,150

Massachusetts Educational

Financing Authority, Education

Loan Revenue (Issue K) 5.25 7/1/29 2,210,000 2,419,685

Massachusetts Health and

Educational Facilities

Authority, Revenue (Suffolk

University Issue) 6.25 7/1/30 2,000,000 2,295,820
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E-470 Public Highway Authority,

Senior Revenue 5.25 9/1/25 1,000,000 1,123,670

E-470 Public Highway Authority,

Senior Revenue 5.38 9/1/26 1,000,000 1,124,370

JPMorgan Chase Putters/Drivers

Trust (Series 4386)

Non-recourse (Board of

Governors of the Colorado

State University, System

Enterprise Revenue) 5.00 3/1/20 2,550,000 b,c 2,864,084

RIB Floater Trust (Barclays Bank

PLC) (Series 25 U-1) Recourse

(Colorado Springs, Utilities

System Improvement Revenue) 5.00 11/15/43 4,000,000 b,c 4,554,080

University of Colorado Regents,

University Enterprise Revenue

(Prerefunded) 5.38 6/1/19 1,500,000 d 1,713,435

District of Columbia--4.2%

RIB Floater Trust (Barclays Bank

PLC) (Series 15 U) Recourse

(District of Columbia, Income

Tax Secured Revenue) 5.00 12/1/35 6,999,163 b,c 8,316,038

Florida--8.2%

Citizens Property Insurance

Corporation, Coastal Account

Senior Secured Revenue 5.00 6/1/25 2,000,000 2,419,180

Davie,

Educational Facilities Revenue

(Nova Southeastern University

Project) 5.63 4/1/43 1,000,000 1,150,860

Greater Orlando Aviation

Authority, Airport Facilities

Revenue 6.25 10/1/20 3,980,000 4,644,143

Halifax Hospital Medical Center,

HR 4.00 6/1/41 1,000,000 1,013,700

Mid-Bay Bridge Authority,

Springing Lien Revenue

(Prerefunded) 7.25 10/1/21 2,500,000 d 3,280,150
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(International Paper Company

Project) 5.38 12/1/35 2,000,000 2,227,040

New Jersey--4.6%

New Jersey Economic Development

Authority, School Facilities

Construction Revenue 5.25 6/15/40 1,250,000 1,344,463

New Jersey Economic Development

Authority, Water Facilities

Revenue (New Jersey - American

Water Company, Inc. Project) 5.70 10/1/39 2,000,000 2,266,240

New Jersey Higher Education

Student Assistance Authority,

Student Loan Revenue (Insured;

Assured Guaranty Corp.) 6.13 6/1/30 1,970,000 2,125,886

New Jersey Transportation Trust

Fund Authority, Transportation

Program Revenue 5.25 6/15/33 1,000,000 1,089,370

Tobacco Settlement Financing

Corporation of New Jersey,

Tobacco Settlement

Asset-Backed Bonds 5.00 6/1/29 2,500,000 2,287,025

New Mexico--1.7%

Farmington,

PCR (Public Service Company of

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6
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IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In Thousands)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2012 2013
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ 55,980 $ 20,534
Loss (Income) from discontinued operations 5,093 (2,184)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation 70,149 70,095
Amortization (includes deferred financing costs and bond discount of $1,742 and $1,910 for the three months ended March 31,
2012 and 2013, respectively) 9,601 12,016
Stock-based compensation expense 9,800 5,710
(Benefit) Provision for deferred income taxes (9,814) (3,003)
Loss (Gain) on disposal/write-down of property, plant and equipment, net 719 (539)
Foreign currency transactions and other, net (1,020) 11,185
Changes in Assets and Liabilities (exclusive of acquisitions):
Accounts receivable (8,831) (7,610)
Prepaid expenses and other (13,630) 31,712
Accounts payable (2,433) 28,232
Accrued expenses and deferred revenue (36,629) (58,501)
Other assets and long-term liabilities 74 (1,912)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities�Continuing Operations 79,059 105,735
Cash Flows from Operating Activities�Discontinued Operations (4,175) 870

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 74,884 106,605
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (55,916) (95,418)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (8,818) 74
Investment in restricted cash (2) (1)
Additions to customer relationship and acquisition costs (3,008) (4,636)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment and other, net 1,853 (517)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities�Continuing Operations (65,891) (100,498)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities�Discontinued Operations (1,141) (10)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities (67,032) (100,508)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Repayment of revolving credit and term loan facilities and other debt (635,539) (355,367)
Proceeds from revolving credit and term loan facilities and other debt 701,105 386,506
Debt financing (repayment to) and equity contribution from (distribution to) noncontrolling interests, net 191 194
Stock repurchases (38,052) �
Parent cash dividends (43,180) (51,662)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plan 1,321 5,005
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 190 1,705
Payment of debt financing costs (93) (469)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities�Continuing Operations (14,057) (14,088)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities�Discontinued Operations (39) �

Cash Flows from Financing Activities (14,096) (14,088)
Effect of Exchange Rates on Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,692 (5,425)
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(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,552) (13,416)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 179,845 243,415

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period $ 178,293 $ 229,999

Supplemental Information:
Cash Paid for Interest $ 56,083 $ 65,617

Cash Paid for Income Taxes $ 38,060 $ 9,013

Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Capital Leases $ 2,499 $ 20,146

Accrued Capital Expenditures $ 21,166 $ 26,442

Dividends Payable $ 42,791 $ 53,823

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

(Unaudited)

(1) General

        The interim consolidated financial statements are presented herein and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments of a normal
recurring nature necessary for a fair presentation. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year. Iron Mountain
Incorporated ("IMI") stores records, primarily paper documents and data backup media, and provides information management services in
various locations throughout North America, Europe, Latin America and Asia Pacific. We have a diversified customer base consisting of
commercial, legal, banking, health care, accounting, insurance, entertainment and government organizations.

        The unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC"). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") have been omitted pursuant to those rules and
regulations, but we believe that the disclosures included herein are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. The
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto, which are included herein, should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2012 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2013.

        On June 2, 2011, we sold (the "Digital Sale") our online backup and recovery, digital archiving and eDiscovery solutions businesses of our
digital business (the "Digital Business") to Autonomy Corporation plc, a corporation formed under the laws of England and Wales
("Autonomy"), pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement dated as of May 15, 2011 among IMI, certain subsidiaries of IMI and Autonomy (the
"Digital Sale Agreement"). Additionally, on April 27, 2012, we sold our records management operations in Italy. The financial position,
operating results and cash flows of the Digital Business and our Italian operations, including the gain on the sale of the Digital Business and the
loss on the sale of the Italian operations, for all periods presented, have been reported as discontinued operations for financial reporting
purposes. See Note 9 for a further discussion of these events.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a.
Principles of Consolidation

        The accompanying financial statements reflect our financial position, results of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash
flows on a consolidated basis. All intercompany account balances have been eliminated.

b.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

        Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash invested in short-term securities, which have remaining maturities at the date of
purchase of less than 90 days. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

        We have restricted cash associated with a collateral trust agreement with our insurance carrier related to our workers' compensation
self-insurance program. The restricted cash subject to this agreement was $33,612 and $33,613 as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013,
respectively, and is

8
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IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

(Unaudited)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

included in current assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Restricted cash consists primarily of U.S. Treasuries.

c.
Foreign Currency

        Local currencies are the functional currencies for our operations outside the U.S., with the exception of certain foreign holding companies
and our financing center in Switzerland, whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. In those instances where the local currency is the
functional currency, assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the applicable period. Resulting translation adjustments are reflected in the accumulated other comprehensive items, net
component of Iron Mountain Incorporated Stockholders' Equity and Noncontrolling Interests. The gain or loss on foreign currency transactions,
calculated as the difference between the historical exchange rate and the exchange rate at the applicable measurement date, including those
related to (1) our 71/4% GBP Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014, (2) our 63/4% Euro Senior Subordinated Notes due 2018, (3) the borrowings
in certain foreign currencies under our revolving credit agreement and (4) certain foreign currency denominated intercompany obligations of our
foreign subsidiaries to us and between our foreign subsidiaries, which are not considered permanently invested, are included in other expense
(income), net, on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The total gain or loss on foreign currency transactions amounted to a net gain of
$2,575 and a net loss of $3,565 for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

d.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

        Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are reviewed annually for impairment or more frequently if
impairment indicators arise. Other than goodwill, we currently have no intangible assets that have indefinite lives and which are not amortized.
Separable intangible assets that are not deemed to have indefinite lives are amortized over their useful lives. We annually assess whether a
change in the life over which our intangible assets are amortized is necessary or more frequently if events or circumstances warrant.

        We have selected October 1 as our annual goodwill impairment review date. We performed our most recent annual goodwill impairment
review as of October 1, 2012 and noted no impairment of goodwill at such date. As of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, no factors were
identified that would alter our October 1, 2012 goodwill assessment. In making this assessment, we relied on a number of factors including
operating results, business plans, anticipated future cash flows, transactions and marketplace data. There are inherent uncertainties related to
these factors and our judgment in applying them to the analysis of goodwill impairment. When changes occur in the composition of one or more
reporting units, the goodwill is reassigned to the reporting units affected based on their relative fair values.

        Our reporting units at which level we performed our goodwill impairment analysis as of October 1, 2012 were as follows: (1) North
America; (2) United Kingdom, Ireland, Norway, Belgium, France, Germany, Luxembourg, Netherlands and Spain ("Western Europe"); (3) the
remaining countries in

9
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IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

(Unaudited)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Europe, excluding Russia and Ukraine, in which we operate ("Emerging Markets"); (4) Latin America; (5) Australia, China, Hong Kong and
Singapore ("Asia Pacific"); and (6) India, Russia and Ukraine ("Emerging Market Joint Ventures"). As of December 31, 2012, the carrying value
of goodwill, net amounted to $1,762,307, $365,303, $87,492, $56,893 and $62,764 for North America, Western Europe, Emerging Markets,
Latin America and Asia Pacific, respectively. Our Emerging Market Joint Ventures reporting unit had no goodwill as of December 31, 2012 and
March 31, 2013. Based on our goodwill impairment assessment, all of our reporting units with goodwill had estimated fair values as of
October 1, 2012 that exceeded their carrying values by greater than 30%. As of March 31, 2013, the carrying value of goodwill, net amounted to
$1,757,571, $346,755, $83,521, $57,894 and $62,979 for North America, Western Europe, Emerging Markets, Latin America and Asia Pacific,
respectively.

        Reporting unit valuations have been calculated using an income approach based on the present value of future cash flows of each reporting
unit or a combined approach based on the present value of future cash flows and market and transaction multiples of revenues and earnings. The
income approach incorporates many assumptions, including future growth rates, discount factors, expected capital expenditures and income tax
cash flows. Changes in economic and operating conditions impacting these assumptions could result in goodwill impairments in future periods.
In conjunction with our annual goodwill impairment reviews, we reconcile the sum of the valuations of all of our reporting units to our market
capitalization as of such dates.

10
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IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

(Unaudited)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

        The changes in the carrying value of goodwill attributable to each reportable operating segment for the three months ended March 31, 2013
are as follows:

North
American
Business

International
Business

Total
Consolidated

Gross Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 2,023,971 $ 631,528 $ 2,655,499
Fair value and other adjustments(1) 191 484 675
Currency effects (5,184) (22,161) (27,345)

Gross Balance as of March 31, 2013 $ 2,018,978 $ 609,851 $ 2,628,829

Accumulated Amortization Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 261,664 $ 59,076 $ 320,740
Currency effects (257) (374) (631)

Accumulated Amortization Balance as of March 31, 2013 $ 261,407 $ 58,702 $ 320,109

Net Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 1,762,307 $ 572,452 $ 2,334,759

Net Balance as of March 31, 2013 $ 1,757,571 $ 551,149 $ 2,308,720

Accumulated Goodwill Impairment Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 85,909 $ 46,500 $ 132,409

Accumulated Goodwill Impairment Balance as of March 31, 2013 $ 85,909 $ 46,500 $ 132,409

(1)
Fair value and other adjustments primarily include $749 in adjustments to property, plant and equipment, net, customer relationships
and deferred income taxes, as well as $74 of cash received related to acquisitions made in previous years.

        The components of our amortizable intangible assets as of March 31, 2013 are as follows:

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Customer Relationships and Acquisition Costs $ 684,473 $ (238,184) $ 446,289
Core Technology(1) 3,676 (3,133) 543
Trademarks and Non-Compete Agreements(1) 4,942 (3,084) 1,858
Deferred Financing Costs 64,038 (21,550) 42,488

Total $ 757,129 $ (265,951) $ 491,178
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(1)
Included in Other Assets, net in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

        Amortization expense associated with amortizable intangible assets (including deferred financing costs) was $9,601 and $12,016 for the
three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively.
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IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED
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e.
Stock-Based Compensation

        We record stock-based compensation expense, utilizing the straight-line method, for the cost of stock options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, performance units and shares of stock issued under the 2003 employee stock purchase plan (together, "Employee Stock-Based
Awards").

        Stock-based compensation expense for Employee Stock-Based Awards included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 was $9,800 ($6,847 after tax or $0.04 per basic and diluted share) and $5,710
($4,887 after tax or $0.03 per basic and diluted share), respectively.

        Stock-based compensation expense for Employee Stock-Based Awards included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations related to continuing operations is as follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2012 2013
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amortization) $ 215 $ 70
Selling, general and administrative expenses 9,585 5,640

Total stock-based compensation $ 9,800 $ 5,710

        The benefits associated with the tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost are required to be reported as financing activities
in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. This requirement reduces reported operating cash flows and increases reported
financing cash flows. As a result, net financing cash flows from continuing operations included $190 and $1,705 for the three months ended
March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively, from the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost. The tax benefit of any
resulting excess tax deduction increases the Additional Paid-in Capital ("APIC") pool. Any resulting tax deficiency is deducted from the APIC
pool.

Stock Options

        Under our various stock option plans, options were granted with exercise prices equal to the market price of the stock on the date of grant.
The majority of our options become exercisable ratably over a period of five years from the date of grant and generally have a contractual life of
ten years from the date of grant, unless the holder's employment is terminated sooner. Certain of the options we issue become exercisable ratably
over a period of ten years from the date of grant and have a contractual life of 12 years from the date of grant, unless the holder's employment is
terminated sooner. As of March 31, 2013, ten-year vesting options represented 9.6% of total outstanding options. Beginning in 2011, certain of
the options we issue become exercisable ratably over a period of three years from the date of grant and have a contractual life of ten years from
the date of grant, unless the holder's employment is terminated sooner. As of March 31, 2013, three-year vesting options represented 19.2% of
total outstanding options. Our non-employee directors are considered employees
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for purposes of our stock option plans and stock option reporting. Options granted to our non-employee directors generally become exercisable
one year from the date of grant.

        The weighted average fair value of options granted for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 was $7.00 and $7.69 per share,
respectively. These values were estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following table summarizes
the weighted average assumptions used for grants in the respective period:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

Weighted Average Assumptions 2012 2013
Expected volatility 33.8% 33.8%
Risk-free interest rate 1.23% 1.13%
Expected dividend yield 3% 3%
Expected life 6.3 years 6.3 years
        Expected volatility is calculated utilizing daily historical volatility over a period that equates to the expected life of the option. The risk-free
interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury interest rates whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options. Expected dividend
yield is considered in the option pricing model and represents our current annualized expected per share dividends over the current trade price of
our common stock. The expected life (estimated period of time outstanding) of the stock options granted is estimated using the historical
exercise behavior of our employees.

        A summary of option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2013 is as follows:

Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 5,908,102 $ 23.39
Granted 261,698 33.03
Exercised (413,206) 21.51
Forfeited (52,931) 21.00
Expired (1,758) 23.76

Outstanding at March 31, 2013 5,701,905 $ 23.98 5.94 $ 70,286

Options exercisable at March 31, 2013 3,678,624 $ 23.66 5.17 $ 46,537

Options expected to vest 1,901,202 $ 24.54 7.32 $ 22,374
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        The following table provides the aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013:

Three Months
Ended

March 31,

2012 2013
Aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised $ 1,064 $ 5,446
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

        Under our various stock option plans, we may also issue grants of restricted stock or restricted stock units ("RSUs"). Our restricted stock
and RSUs generally have a three-to five-year vesting period from the date of grant. As a result of an amendment to our RSUs approved by our
Compensation Committee of our board of directors in October 2012, all RSUs now accrue dividend equivalents associated with the underlying
stock as we declare dividends. Dividends will generally be paid to holders of RSUs in cash upon the vesting date of the associated RSU and will
be forfeited if the RSU does not vest. We accrued approximately $1,790 of cash dividends on RSUs for the three months ended March 31, 2013.
The fair value of restricted stock and RSUs is the excess of the market price of our common stock at the date of grant over the purchase price
(which is typically zero).

        A summary of restricted stock and RSU activity for the three months ended March 31, 2013 is as follows:

Restricted
Stock and RSUs

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Non-vested at December 31, 2012 1,303,664 $ 29.89
Granted 546,711 35.88
Vested (296,846) 29.00
Forfeited (19,303) 27.21

Non-vested at March 31, 2013 1,534,226 $ 32.23

        No restricted stock vested during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013. The total fair value of RSUs vested during the three
months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 was $3,979 and $8,607, respectively.

Performance Units

        Under our various equity compensation plans, we may also make awards of performance units ("PUs"). For the majority of PUs, the
number of PUs earned is determined based on our performance against predefined calendar year targets of revenue growth and return on
invested capital ("ROIC"). The number of PUs earned may range from 0% to 150% of the initial award. The number of PUs earned is
determined based on the Company's actual performance as compared to the targets at the
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end of the one-year performance period. Certain PUs granted in 2013 will be earned based on a market condition associated with the total return
on our common stock in relation to a subset of the S&P 500 rather than the revenue growth and ROIC targets noted above. The number of PUs
earned may range from 0% to 200% of the initial award. All of our PUs will be settled in shares of our common stock and are subject to cliff
vesting three years from the date of the original PU grant. Employees who subsequently terminate their employment after the end of the
one-year performance period and on or after attaining age 55 and completing 10 years of qualifying service (the "retirement criteria") shall
immediately and completely vest in any PUs earned based on the actual achievement against the predefined targets as discussed above (but
delivery of the shares remains deferred). As a result, PUs are generally expensed over the shorter of (1) the vesting period, (2) achievement of
the retirement criteria, which may occur as early as January 1 of the year following the year of grant, or (3) a maximum of three years. As a
result of an amendment to our PUs approved by our Compensation Committee of our board of directors in October 2012, outstanding PUs now
accrue dividend equivalents associated with the underlying stock as we declare dividends. Dividends will generally be paid to holders of PUs in
cash upon the settlement date of the associated PU and will be forfeited if the PU does not vest. We accrued approximately $573 of cash
dividends on PUs for the three months ended March 31, 2013.

        During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we issued 202,333 PUs. For PUs that are earned based on our performance against revenue
growth and ROIC targets during the one-year performance period, we will forecast the likelihood of achieving the predefined annual revenue
growth and ROIC targets in order to calculate the expected PUs to be earned. We will record a compensation charge based on either the
forecasted PUs to be earned (during the one-year performance period) or the actual PUs earned (at the one-year anniversary date) over the
vesting period for each of the awards. For the 2013 PUs that will be earned based on a market condition, we utilized a Monte Carlo simulation to
fair value these awards at the date of grant and such fair value will be expensed over the three-year performance period. The total fair value of
earned PUs that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $908. As of March 31, 2013, we expected 100% achievement of the
predefined revenue and ROIC targets associated with the grants made in 2013.
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        A summary of PU activity for the three months ended March 31, 2013 is as follows:

Original
PU

Awards
PU

Adjustment(1)

Total
PU

Awards

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Non-vested at December 31, 2012 236,093 (4,447) 231,646 $ 29.12
Granted 202,333 (25,698) 176,635 38.76
Vested (31,361) 558 (30,803) 29.48
Forfeited (2,820) � (2,820) 28.96

Non-vested at March 31, 2013 404,245 (29,587) 374,658 $ 33.64

(1)
Represents an increase or decrease in the number of original PUs awarded based on either (a) the final performance criteria
achievement at the end of the defined performance period of such PUs or (b) a change in estimated awards based on the forecasted
performance against the predefined targets.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

        We offer an employee stock purchase plan (the "ESPP") in which participation is available to substantially all U.S. and Canadian
employees who meet certain service eligibility requirements. The ESPP provides a way for our eligible employees to become stockholders on
favorable terms. The ESPP provides for the purchase of our common stock by eligible employees through successive offering periods. We
generally have two six-month offering periods per year, the first of which begins June 1 and ends November 30 and the second of which begins
December 1 and ends May 31. During each offering period, participating employees accumulate after-tax payroll contributions, up to a
maximum of 15% of their compensation, to pay the exercise price of their options. Participating employees may withdraw from an offering
period before the purchase date and obtain a refund of the amounts withheld as payroll deductions. At the end of the offering period, outstanding
options are exercised, and each employee's accumulated contributions are used to purchase our common stock. The price for shares purchased
under the ESPP is 95% of the fair market price at the end of the offering period, without a look-back feature. As a result, we do not recognize
compensation cost for the ESPP shares purchased. In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, there were no offering periods which
ended under the ESPP, and no shares were issued. The number of shares available for purchase under the ESPP at March 31, 2013 was 279,226.

        As of March 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation cost related to the unvested portion of our Employee Stock-Based Awards was $65,956
and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.

        We generally issue shares of our common stock for the exercises of stock options, restricted stock, RSUs, PUs and shares of our common
stock under our ESPP from unissued reserved shares.
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f.
Income (Loss) Per Share�Basic and Diluted

        Basic income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding. The calculation of diluted income (loss) per share is consistent with that of basic income (loss) per share but gives effect to all
potential common shares (that is, securities such as options, warrants or convertible securities) that were outstanding during the period, unless
the effect is antidilutive.

        The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted income (loss) per share:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2012 2013
Income (Loss) from continuing operations $ 61,073 $ 18,350

Total (loss) income from discontinued operations (see Note 9) $ (5,093) $ 2,184

Net income (loss) attributable to Iron Mountain Incorporated $ 55,350 $ 19,386

Weighted-average shares�basic 171,320,000 190,213,000
Effect of dilutive potential stock options 720,788 1,395,106
Effect of dilutive potential restricted stock, RSUs and PUs 181,867 501,974

Weighted-average shares�diluted 172,222,655 192,110,080

Earnings (Losses) per share�basic:
Income (Loss) from continuing operations $ 0.36 $ 0.10

Total (loss) income from discontinued operations (see Note 9) $ (0.03) $ 0.01

Net income (loss) attributable to Iron Mountain Incorporated�basic $ 0.32 $ 0.10

Earnings (Losses) per share�diluted:
Income (Loss) from continuing operations $ 0.35 $ 0.10

Total (loss) income from discontinued operations (see Note 9) $ (0.03) $ 0.01

Net income (loss) attributable to Iron Mountain Incorporated�diluted $ 0.32 $ 0.10

Antidilutive stock options, RSUs and PUs, excluded from the calculation 2,045,616 260,298
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g.
Revenues

        Our revenues consist of storage rental revenues as well as service revenues and are reflected net of sales and value added taxes. Storage
rental revenues, which are considered a key driver of financial performance for the storage and information management services industry,
consist primarily of recurring periodic rental charges related to the storage of materials or data (generally on a per unit basis). Service revenues
include charges for related core service activities and a wide array of complementary products and services. Included in core service revenues
are: (1) the handling of records, including the addition of new records, temporary removal of records from storage, refiling of removed records
and the destruction of records; (2) courier operations, consisting primarily of the pickup and delivery of records upon customer request;
(3) secure shredding of sensitive documents; and (4) other recurring services, including Document Management Solutions ("DMS"), which
relate to physical and digital records, and recurring project revenues. Our complementary services revenues include special project work,
customer termination and permanent withdrawal fees, data restoration projects, fulfillment services, consulting services, technology services and
product sales (including specially designed storage containers and related supplies). Our secure shredding revenues include the sale of recycled
paper (included in complementary services revenues), the price of which can fluctuate from period to period, adding to the volatility and
reducing the predictability of that revenue stream.

        We recognize revenue when the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the
sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Storage rental and service revenues are
recognized in the month the respective storage rental or service is provided, and customers are generally billed on a monthly basis on
contractually agreed-upon terms. Amounts related to future storage rental or prepaid service contracts for customers where storage rental fees or
services are billed in advance are accounted for as deferred revenue and recognized ratably over the period the applicable storage rental or
service is provided or performed. Revenues from the sales of products, which is included as a component of service revenues, is recognized
when products are shipped and title has passed to the customer. Revenues from the sales of products have historically not been significant.

h.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Credit Memo Reserves

        We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts and credit memos for estimated losses resulting from the potential inability of our
customers to make required payments and potential disputes regarding billing and service issues. When calculating the allowance, we consider
our past loss experience, current and prior trends in our aged receivables and credit memo activity, current economic conditions and specific
circumstances of individual receivable balances. If the financial condition of our customers were to significantly change, resulting in a
significant improvement or impairment of their ability to make payments, an adjustment of the allowance may be required. We consider
accounts receivable to be delinquent after such time as reasonable means of collection have been exhausted. We charge-off uncollectible
balances as circumstances warrant, generally, no later than one year past due.
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i.
Income Taxes

        Our effective tax rates for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 were 29.3% and 67.8%, respectively. The primary reconciling
items between the federal statutory rate of 35% and our overall effective tax rate were differences in the rates of tax at which our foreign
earnings are subject, including foreign exchange gains and losses in different jurisdictions with different tax rates and state income taxes (net of
federal tax benefit). During the three months ended March 31, 2012, foreign currency losses were recorded in higher tax jurisdictions associated
with our marking-to-market of debt and derivative instruments while foreign currency gains were recorded in lower tax jurisdictions associated
with our marking-to-market of intercompany loan positions, which reduced our first quarter 2012 effective tax rate by 8.9%. During the three
months ended March 31, 2013, foreign currency gains were recorded in higher tax jurisdictions associated with our marking-to-market of debt
and derivative instruments while foreign currency losses were recorded in lower tax jurisdictions associated with our marking-to-market of
intercompany loan positions, which increased our first quarter 2013 effective tax rate by 22.5%.

        On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (the "ATRA") was signed into law. In part, the ATRA retroactively
reinstated and extended the controlled foreign corporation look-through rule, which provides for the exception from January 1, 2012 to
December 31, 2013 of certain foreign earnings from U.S. federal taxation as Subpart F income. As a result, our income tax provision for the first
quarter of 2013 includes a discrete tax benefit of $4,025 relating to the previously expired period from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012.

        We provide for income taxes during interim periods based on our estimate of the effective tax rate for the year. Discrete items and changes
in our estimate of the annual effective tax rate are recorded in the period they occur. Our effective tax rate is subject to variability in the future
due to, among other items: (1) changes in the mix of income from foreign jurisdictions; (2) tax law changes; (3) volatility in foreign exchange
gains (losses); (4) the timing of the establishment and reversal of tax reserves; (5) our ability to utilize foreign tax credits and net operating
losses that we generate; and (6) our proposed conversion to a real estate investment trust ("REIT"). We are subject to income taxes in the U.S.
and numerous foreign jurisdictions. We are subject to examination by various tax authorities in jurisdictions in which we have business
operations or a taxable presence. We regularly assess the likelihood of additional assessments by tax authorities and provide for these matters as
appropriate. Although we believe our tax estimates are appropriate, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation could result in
changes in our estimates.

        Accounting for income taxes requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of
temporary differences between the tax and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and for loss and credit carryforwards. Valuation
allowances are provided when recovery of deferred tax assets is not considered more likely than not.

        We have elected to recognize interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as a component of the provision (benefit) for
income taxes in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. We recorded a reduction of $249 and an increase of $545 for gross
interest and penalties
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for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. We had $3,554 and $4,059 accrued for the payment of interest and penalties
as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, respectively.

        We have not recorded deferred taxes on book over tax outside basis differences related to our foreign subsidiaries, other than for certain
Canadian subsidiaries, for which we recorded a deferred tax liability of $577 during the three months ended December 31, 2012, because such
basis differences are not expected to reverse in the foreseeable future and we intend to reinvest the undistributed earnings of such other foreign
subsidiaries indefinitely outside the U.S. These basis differences arose primarily through the undistributed book earnings of such foreign
subsidiaries. The basis differences could be reversed through a sale of such foreign subsidiaries, the receipt of dividends from such subsidiaries
or certain other events or actions on our part, each of which would result in an increase in our provision for income taxes. It is not practicable to
calculate the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability on the book over tax outside basis difference because of the complexities of the
hypothetical calculation. We may record deferred taxes on book over tax outside basis differences related to certain foreign subsidiaries in the
future depending upon a number of factors, decisions and events in connection with our potential conversion to a REIT, including favorable
indications from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service with regard to our private letter ruling requests, finalization of countries to be included in our
plan to convert to a REIT, refinancing our revolving credit and term loan facilities, shareholder approval of certain modifications to our
corporate charter and final board of director approval of our conversion to a REIT.

        During the first quarter of 2013, we reclassified $10,329 of long-term deferred income tax liabilities to current deferred income taxes
(included within accrued expenses within current liabilities) and prepaid and other assets (included within current assets) in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets related to the depreciation recapture associated with our recharacterization of certain racking as real estate rather than personal
property and amortization associated with other intangible assets in conjunction with our potential conversion to a REIT.

j.
Concentrations of Credit Risk

        Financial instruments that potentially subject us to market risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents (including money market
funds and time deposits), restricted cash (primarily U.S. Treasuries) and accounts receivable. The only significant concentrations of liquid
investments as of both December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013 relate to cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash held on deposit with five
global banks and two "Triple A" rated money market funds, which we consider to be large, highly-rated investment-grade institutions. As per
our risk management investment policy, we limit exposure to concentration of credit risk by limiting the amount invested in any one mutual fund
to a maximum of $50,000 or in any one financial institution to a maximum of $75,000. As of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, our cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash balance was $277,027 and $263,612, respectively, including money market funds and time deposits
amounting to $218,629 and $209,723, respectively. A substantial portion of the money market funds is invested in U.S. Treasuries.
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k.
Fair Value Measurements

        Entities are permitted under GAAP to elect to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at either fair value or cost. We
did not elect the fair value measurement option for any of our financial assets or liabilities.

        Our financial assets or liabilities are measured using inputs from the three levels of the fair value hierarchy. A financial asset or liability's
classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

        The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

        Level 1�Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access at
the measurement date.

        Level 2�Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets
or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest
rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other
means (market corroborated inputs).

        Level 3�Unobservable inputs that reflect our assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability.

        The following tables provide the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2012 and
March 31, 2013, respectively:

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2012 Using

Description

Total Carrying
Value at

December 31,
2012

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant other
observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Money Market Funds(1) $ 68,800 $ � $ 68,800 $ �
Time Deposits(1) 149,829 � 149,829 �
Trading Securities 11,071 10,525(2) 546(1) �
Derivative Liabilities(3) 1,522 � 1,522 �
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Fair Value Measurements at
March 31, 2013 Using

Description

Total Carrying
Value at
March 31,
2013

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant other
observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Money Market Funds(1) $ 68,028 $ � $ 68,028 $ �
Time Deposits(1) 141,695 � 141,695 �
Trading Securities 11,437 10,923(2) 514(1) �
Derivative Assets(3) 5,538 � 5,538 �
Derivative Liabilities(3) 1,709 � 1,709 �

(1)
Money market funds and time deposits (including certain trading securities) are measured based on quoted prices for similar assets
and/or subsequent transactions.

(2)
Securities are measured at fair value using quoted market prices.

(3)
Our derivative assets and liabilities primarily relate to short-term (six months or less) foreign currency contracts that we have entered
into to hedge our intercompany exposures denominated in British pounds sterling and Australian dollars. We calculate the fair value of
such forward contracts by adjusting the spot rate utilized at the balance sheet date for translation purposes by an estimate of the
forward points observed in active markets.

        Disclosures are required in the financial statements for items measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. We did not have any material
items that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013.

l.
Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and for the period then ended. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate the estimates used. We base our estimates on historical
experience, actuarial estimates, current conditions and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

m.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Items, Net

        Accumulated other comprehensive items, net consists of foreign currency translation adjustments as of December, 31, 2012 and March 31,
2013.
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n.
Other Expense (Income), Net

        Other expense (income), net consists of the following:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2012 2013
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses, net $ (2,575) $ 3,565
Other, net (729) (826)

$ (3,304) $ 2,739

o.
Property, Plant and Equipment and Long-Lived Assets

        We develop various software applications for internal use. Computer software costs associated with internal use software are expensed as
incurred until certain capitalization criteria are met. Payroll and related costs for employees directly associated with, and devoting time to, the
development of internal use computer software projects (to the extent time is spent directly on the project) are capitalized. Capitalization begins
when the design stage of the application has been completed and it is probable that the project will be completed and used to perform the
function intended. Depreciation begins when the software is placed in service. Computer software costs that are capitalized are periodically
evaluated for impairment.

        We review long-lived assets and all amortizable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted
net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relate to their carrying amount. The operations are generally distinguished by the business
segment and geographic region in which they operate. If the operation is determined to be unable to recover the carrying amount of its assets,
then intangible assets are written down first, followed by the other long-lived assets of the operation, to fair value. Fair value is determined based
on discounted cash flows or appraised values, depending upon the nature of the assets.

        Consolidated gain on disposal/write-down of property, plant and equipment, net was $539 for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and
consisted primarily of gains on the retirement of leased vehicles accounted for as capital lease assets associated with our North American
Business. Consolidated loss on disposal/write-down of property, plant and equipment, net was $719 for the three months ended March 31, 2012
and consisted primarily of write-offs associated with our European and Latin American operations.

(3) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

        Every derivative instrument is required to be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at its fair value.
Periodically, we acquire derivative instruments that are intended to hedge either cash flows or values that are subject to foreign exchange or
other market price risk and not for trading purposes. We have formally documented our hedging relationships, including identification of the
hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as our risk management
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(3) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (Continued)

objectives and strategies for undertaking each hedge transaction. Given the recurring nature of our revenues and the long-term nature of our asset
base, we have the ability and the preference to use long-term, fixed interest rate debt to finance our business, thereby preserving our long-term
returns on invested capital. We target approximately 75% of our debt portfolio to be fixed with respect to interest rates. Occasionally, we may
use interest rate swaps as a tool to maintain our targeted level of fixed rate debt. In addition, we may use borrowings in foreign currencies, either
obtained in the U.S. or by our foreign subsidiaries, to hedge foreign currency risk associated with our international investments. Sometimes we
enter into currency swaps to temporarily hedge an overseas investment, such as a major acquisition, while we arrange permanent financing or to
hedge our exposure due to foreign currency exchange movements related to our intercompany accounts with and between our foreign
subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, none of our derivative instruments contained credit-risk related contingent features.

        We have entered into a number of separate forward contracts to hedge our exposures in British pounds sterling and Australian dollars. As of
March 31, 2013, we had (1) an outstanding forward contract to purchase $195,238 U.S. dollars and sell 125,000 British pounds sterling to hedge
our intercompany exposures with our European operations and (2) an outstanding forward contract to purchase $78,694 U.S. dollars and sell
77,000 Australian dollars to hedge our intercompany exposures with our Australian subsidiary. At the maturity of the forward contracts, we may
enter into new forward contracts to hedge movements in the underlying currencies. At the time of settlement, we either pay or receive the net
settlement amount from the forward contract and recognize this amount in other (income) expense, net in the accompanying statement of
operations as a realized foreign exchange gain or loss. At the end of each month, we mark the outstanding forward contracts to market and
record an unrealized foreign exchange gain or loss for the mark-to-market valuation. We have not designated these forward contracts as hedges.
During the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, there was $1,503 in net cash disbursements and $5,799 in cash receipts, respectively,
included in cash from operating activities from continuing operations related to settlements associated with these foreign currency forward
contracts.

        The following table provides the fair value of our derivative instruments as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013 and their gains and
losses for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013:

Asset Derivatives

December 31, 2012 March 31, 2013
Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments

Balance Sheet
Location

Fair
Value

Balance Sheet
Location

Fair
Value

Foreign exchange contracts
Prepaid expenses and
other $ �

Prepaid expenses and
other $ 5,538

Total $ � $ 5,538
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(3) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (Continued)

Liability Derivatives

December 31, 2012 March 31, 2013
Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments

Balance Sheet
Location

Fair
Value

Balance Sheet
Location

Fair
Value

Foreign exchange contracts Accrued expenses $ 1,522 Accrued expenses $ 1,709

Total $ 1,522 $ 1,709

Amount of (Gain)
Loss Recognized in

Income on Derivatives
Three Months

Ended
March 31,Location of (Gain)

Loss Recognized in
Income on Derivative

Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments 2012 2013
Foreign exchange contracts Other expense (income), net $ 7,971 $ (11,150)

Total $ 7,971 $ (11,150)

        We have designated a portion of our 63/4% Euro Senior Subordinated Notes due 2018 issued by IMI (the "63/4% Notes") as a hedge of net
investment of certain of our Euro denominated subsidiaries. For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, we designated on average
102,333 and 105,667 Euros, respectively, of the 63/4% Notes as a hedge of net investment of certain of our Euro denominated subsidiaries. As a
result, we recorded foreign exchange losses of $3,755 ($2,345, net of tax) and foreign exchange gains of $4,123 ($2,513, net of tax) for the three
months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively, related to the change in fair value of such debt due to currency translation adjustments,
which is a component of accumulated other comprehensive items, net included in stockholders' equity. As of March 31, 2013, cumulative net
gains of $13,235, net of tax are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive items, net associated with this net investment hedge.
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(4) Debt

        Long-term debt comprised the following:

December 31, 2012 March 31, 2013
Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Revolving Credit Facility(1) $ 55,500 $ 55,500 $ 110,400 $ 110,400
Term Loan Facility(1) 462,500 462,500 456,250 456,250
71/4% GBP Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (the "71/4% Notes")(2)(3) 242,813 242,813 227,985 227,985
71/2% CAD Senior Subordinated Notes due 2017 (the "Subsidiary
Notes")(2)(4) 175,875 181,591 171,981 176,496
8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2018 (the "8% Notes")(2)(3) 49,834 56,052 49,841 55,305
63/4% Euro Senior Subordinated Notes due 2018 (the "63/4% Notes")(2)(3) 335,152 341,753 325,389 335,044
73/4% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2019 (the "73/4% Notes")(2)(3) 400,000 451,000 400,000 444,510
8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2020 (the "8% Notes due 2020")(2)(3) 300,000 317,250 300,000 314,250
83/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2021 (the "83/8% Notes")(2)(3) 548,518 610,500 548,561 607,063
53/4% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024 (the "53/4% Notes")(2)(3) 1,000,000 1,012,500 1,000,000 997,500
Real Estate Mortgages, Capital Leases and Other(5) 254,811 254,811 259,299 259,299

Total Long-term Debt 3,825,003 3,849,706
Less Current Portion (92,887) (91,853)

Long-term Debt, Net of Current Portion $ 3,732,116 $ 3,757,853

(1)
The capital stock or other equity interests of most of our U.S. subsidiaries, and up to 66% of the capital stock or other equity interests
of our first-tier foreign subsidiaries, are pledged to secure these debt instruments, together with all intercompany obligations of
subsidiaries owed to us or to one of our U.S. subsidiary guarantors or Iron Mountain Canada Corporation ("Canada Company") and all
promissory notes held by us or one of our U.S. subsidiary guarantors or Canada Company. The fair value of this long-term debt
approximates the carrying value (as borrowings under these debt instruments are based on current variable market interest rates, which
are subject to change based on our consolidated leverage ratio, as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, respectively).

(2)
The fair values of these debt instruments are based on quoted market prices for these notes on December 31, 2012 and March 31,
2013, respectively.

(3)
Collectively, the "Parent Notes." IMI is the direct obligor on the Parent Notes, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a
senior subordinated basis, by substantially all of its direct and
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(4) Debt (Continued)

indirect 100% owned U.S. subsidiaries (the "Guarantors"). These guarantees are joint and several obligations of the Guarantors.
Canada Company and the remainder of our subsidiaries do not guarantee the Parent Notes.

(4)
Canada Company is the direct obligor on the Subsidiary Notes, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a senior
subordinated basis, by IMI and the Guarantors. These guarantees are joint and several obligations of IMI and the Guarantors.

(5)
We believe the fair value of this debt approximates its carrying value.

        On June 27, 2011, we entered into a credit agreement that consists of (1) revolving credit facilities under which we can borrow, subject to
certain limitations as defined in the credit agreement, up to an aggregate amount of $725,000 (including Canadian dollars, British pounds
sterling and Euros, among other currencies) (the "Revolving Credit Facility") and (2) a $500,000 term loan facility (the "Term Loan Facility,"
and collectively with the Revolving Credit Facility, the "Credit Agreement"). We have the right to request an increase in the aggregate amount
available to be borrowed under the Credit Agreement up to a maximum of $1,800,000. The Revolving Credit Facility is supported by a group of
19 banks. IMI, Iron Mountain Information Management, Inc. ("IMIM"), Canada Company, Iron Mountain Europe (Group) Limited, Iron
Mountain Australia Pty Ltd., Iron Mountain Switzerland Gmbh and any other subsidiary of IMIM designated by IMIM (the "Other
Subsidiaries") may, with the consent of the administrative agent, as defined in the Credit Agreement, borrow under certain of the following
tranches of the Revolving Credit Facility: (1) tranche one in the amount of $400,000 is available to IMI and IMIM in U.S. dollars, British
pounds sterling and Euros, (2) tranche two in the amount of $150,000 is available to IMI or IMIM in either U.S. dollars or Canadian dollars and
available to Canada Company in Canadian dollars and (3) tranche three in the amount of $175,000 is available to IMI or IMIM and the Other
Subsidiaries in U.S. dollars, Canadian dollars, British pounds sterling, Euros and Australian dollars, among others. The Revolving Credit
Facility terminates on June 27, 2016, at which point all revolving credit loans under such facility become due. With respect to the Term Loan
Facility, loan payments are required through maturity on June 27, 2016 in equal quarterly installments of the aggregate annual amounts based
upon the following percentage of the original principal amount in the table below (except that each of the first three quarterly installments in the
fifth year shall be 10% of the original principal amount and the final quarterly installment in the fifth year shall be 35% of the original principal):

Year Ending Percentage
June 30, 2012 5%
June 30, 2013 5%
June 30, 2014 10%
June 30, 2015 15%
June 27, 2016 65%
        The Term Loan Facility may be prepaid without penalty or premium, in whole or in part, at any time. IMI and IMIM guarantee the
obligations of each of the subsidiary borrowers. The capital stock or other equity interests of most of our U.S. subsidiaries, and up to 66% of the
capital stock or other equity interests of our first-tier foreign subsidiaries, are pledged to secure the Credit Agreement, together with all
intercompany obligations of foreign subsidiaries owed to us or to one of our U.S.
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(4) Debt (Continued)

subsidiary guarantors or Canada Company and all promissory notes held by us or one of our U.S. subsidiary guarantors or Canada Company.
The interest rate on borrowings under the Credit Agreement varies depending on our choice of interest rate and currency options, plus an
applicable margin, which varies based on certain financial ratios. Additionally, the Credit Agreement requires the payment of a commitment fee
on the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility, which fee ranges from between 0.3% to 0.5% based on certain financial ratios. There are
also fees associated with any outstanding letters of credit. As of March 31, 2013, we had $110,400 of outstanding borrowings under the
Revolving Credit Facility, all of which was denominated in U.S. dollars; we also had various outstanding letters of credit totaling $2,318. The
remaining availability under the Revolving Credit Facility on March 31, 2013, based on IMI's leverage ratio, which is calculated based on the
last 12 months' earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"), and other adjustments as defined in the Credit
Agreement and current external debt, was $612,282. The interest rate in effect under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facility was
2.5% and 2.0%, respectively, as of March 31, 2013. For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, we recorded commitment fees and
letters of credit fees of $600 and $610, respectively, based on the unused balances under our revolving credit facilities and outstanding letters of
credit.

        The Credit Agreement, our indentures and other agreements governing our indebtedness contain certain restrictive financial and operating
covenants, including covenants that restrict our ability to complete acquisitions, pay cash dividends, incur indebtedness, make investments, sell
assets and take certain other corporate actions. The covenants do not contain a rating trigger. Therefore, a change in our debt rating would not
trigger a default under the Credit Agreement, our indentures or other agreements governing our indebtedness. The Credit Agreement, as well as
our indentures, use EBITDA-based calculations as primary measures of financial performance, including leverage and fixed charge coverage
ratios. IMI's revolving credit and term leverage ratio was 3.93 and 3.95 as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, respectively, compared to
a maximum allowable ratio of 5.50 under the Credit Agreement. Similarly, IMI's bond leverage ratio, per the indentures, was 5.33 and 5.15 as of
December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, respectively, compared to a maximum allowable ratio of 6.50. IMI's revolving credit and term loan
fixed charge coverage ratio was 1.33 and 1.39 as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, respectively, compared to a minimum allowable
ratio of 1.20 and 1.00 as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, respectively, under the Credit Agreement. Noncompliance with these
leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and liquidity.
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(5) Selected Consolidated Financial Statements of Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company and Non-Guarantors

        The following data summarizes the consolidating results of IMI on the equity method of accounting as of December 31, 2012 and
March 31, 2013 and for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013.

        The Parent Notes and the Subsidiary Notes are guaranteed by the subsidiaries referred to below as the "Guarantors." These subsidiaries are
100% owned by IMI. The guarantees are full and unconditional, as well as joint and several.

        Additionally, IMI guarantees the Subsidiary Notes, which were issued by Canada Company. Canada Company does not guarantee the
Parent Notes. The other subsidiaries that do not guarantee the Parent Notes or the Subsidiary Notes are referred to below as the
"Non-Guarantors."

        In the normal course of business we periodically change the ownership structure of our subsidiaries to meet the requirements of our
business. In the event of such changes, we recast the prior period financial information within this footnote to conform to the current period
presentation in the period such changes occur. Generally, these changes do not alter the designation of the underlying subsidiaries as Guarantors
or Non-Guarantors. However, they may change whether the underlying subsidiary is owned by the Parent, a Guarantor, Canada Company or a
Non-Guarantor. If such a change occurs, the amount of investment in subsidiaries in the below balance sheets and equity in the earnings (losses)
of subsidiaries, net of tax in the below statements of operations with respect to the relevant Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company,
Non-Guarantors and Eliminations columns also would change.
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(5) Selected Consolidated Financial Statements of Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company and Non-Guarantors (Continued)

December 31, 2012

Parent Guarantors
Canada
Company

Non-
Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ � $ 13,472 $ 103,500 $ 126,443 $ � $ 243,415
Restricted Cash 33,612 � � � � 33,612
Accounts Receivable � 338,455 44,363 189,382 � 572,200
Intercompany Receivable 1,055,593 � 5,781 � (1,061,374) �
Other Current Assets 48 121,933 5,720 47,164 � 174,865

Total Current Assets 1,089,253 473,860 159,364 362,989 (1,061,374) 1,024,092
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 1,305 1,500,309 203,909 772,204 � 2,477,727
Other Assets, Net:
Long-term Notes Receivable from Affiliates
and Intercompany Receivable 1,070,930 1,000 4,136 � (1,076,066) �
Investment in Subsidiaries 1,941,540 1,688,000 18,422 314,573 (3,962,535) �
Goodwill � 1,536,964 202,282 595,513 � 2,334,759
Other 37,909 261,950 10,622 211,394 (114) 521,761

Total Other Assets, Net 3,050,379 3,487,914 235,462 1,121,480 (5,038,715) 2,856,520

Total Assets $ 4,140,937 $ 5,462,083 $ 598,735 $ 2,256,673 $ (6,100,089) $ 6,358,339

Liabilities and Equity
Intercompany Payable $ � $ 942,547 $ � $ 118,827 $ (1,061,374) $ �
Current Portion of Long-term Debt � 70,870 2,799 19,218 � 92,887
Total Other Current Liabilities 111,536 469,249 31,015 200,266 � 812,066
Long-term Debt, Net of Current Portion 2,876,317 568,205 193,181 94,413 � 3,732,116
Long-term Notes Payable to Affiliates and
Intercompany Payable 1,000 1,066,823 � 8,243 (1,076,066) �
Other Long-term Liabilities 2,113 417,972 38,745 100,106 (114) 558,822
Commitments and Contingencies (See
Note 7)
Total Iron Mountain Incorporated
Stockholders' Equity 1,149,971 1,926,417 332,995 1,703,123 (3,962,535) 1,149,971
Noncontrolling Interests � � � 12,477 � 12,477

Total Equity 1,149,971 1,926,417 332,995 1,715,600 (3,962,535) 1,162,448

Total Liabilities and Equity $ 4,140,937 $ 5,462,083 $ 598,735 $ 2,256,673 $ (6,100,089) $ 6,358,339
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(5) Selected Consolidated Financial Statements of Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company and Non-Guarantors (Continued)

March 31, 2013

Parent Guarantors
Canada
Company

Non-
Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ � $ 4,132 $ 97,059 $ 128,808 $ � $ 229,999
Restricted Cash 33,613 � � � � 33,613
Accounts Receivable � 340,333 45,163 185,906 � 571,402
Intercompany Receivable 970,671 � 9,755 � (980,426) �
Other Current Assets 5,586 118,088 6,807 42,649 (7,008) 166,122

Total Current Assets 1,009,870 462,553 158,784 357,363 (987,434) 1,001,136
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 1,257 1,512,150 199,487 765,217 � 2,478,111
Other Assets, Net:
Long-term Notes Receivable from
Affiliates and Intercompany Receivable 1,117,769 1,000 3,593 � (1,122,362) �
Investment in Subsidiaries 1,914,555 1,659,857 18,769 313,606 (3,906,787) �
Goodwill � 1,537,154 197,804 573,762 � 2,308,720
Other 36,350 259,214 10,015 204,748 (114) 510,213

Total Other Assets, Net 3,068,674 3,457,225 230,181 1,092,116 (5,029,263) 2,818,933

Total Assets $ 4,079,801 $ 5,431,928 $ 588,452 $ 2,214,696 $ (6,016,697) $ 6,298,180

Liabilities and Equity
Intercompany Payable $ � $ 859,754 $ � $ 120,672 $ (980,426) $ �
Current Portion of Long-term Debt � 71,560 2,672 17,621 � 91,853
Total Other Current Liabilities 108,748 446,051 25,192 179,742 (7,008) 752,725
Long-term Debt, Net of Current Portion 2,851,775 613,472 189,429 103,177 � 3,757,853
Long-term Notes Payable to Affiliates and
Intercompany Payable 1,000 1,114,241 � 7,121 (1,122,362) �
Other Long-term Liabilities 3,723 428,576 38,784 96,703 (114) 567,672
Commitments and Contingencies (See
Note 7)
Total Iron Mountain Incorporated
Stockholders' Equity 1,114,555 1,898,274 332,375 1,676,138 (3,906,787) 1,114,555
Noncontrolling Interests � � � 13,522 � 13,522

Total Equity 1,114,555 1,898,274 332,375 1,689,660 (3,906,787) 1,128,077

Total Liabilities and Equity $ 4,079,801 $ 5,431,928 $ 588,452 $ 2,214,696 $ (6,016,697) $ 6,298,180
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(5) Selected Consolidated Financial Statements of Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company and Non-Guarantors (Continued)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Parent Guarantors
Canada
Company

Non-
Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues:
Storage Rental $ � $ 287,587 $ 30,475 $ 107,279 $ � $ 425,341
Service � 200,361 29,401 91,395 � 321,157

Total Revenues � 487,948 59,876 198,674 � 746,498
Operating Expenses:
Cost of Sales (Excluding Depreciation and Amortization) � 193,215 25,041 97,042 � 315,298
Selling, General and Administrative 18 147,862 9,185 53,595 � 210,660
Depreciation and Amortization 75 48,086 4,563 25,284 � 78,008
(Gain) Loss on Disposal/Write-down of Property, Plant and
Equipment, Net            � (155) 42 832 � 719

Total Operating Expenses 93 389,008 38,831 176,753 � 604,685

Operating (Loss) Income (93) 98,940 21,045 21,921 � 141,813
Interest Expense (Income), Net 47,091 (4,234) 11,466 4,461 � 58,784
Other Expense (Income), Net 19,585 (1,260) � (21,629) � (3,304)

(Loss) Income from Continuing Operations Before
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes (66,769) 104,434 9,579 39,089 � 86,333
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes � 17,084 4,523 3,653 � 25,260
Equity in the (Earnings) Losses of Subsidiaries, Net of Tax (122,119) (32,966) 124 (5,056) 160,017 �

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations 55,350 120,316 4,932 40,492 (160,017) 61,073
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax � 464 � (5,557) � (5,093)

Net Income (Loss) 55,350 120,780 4,932 34,935 (160,017) 55,980
Less: Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests � � � 630 � 630

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Iron Mountain
Incorporated $ 55,350 $ 120,780 $ 4,932 $ 34,305 $ (160,017) $ 55,350

Net Income (Loss) $ 55,350 $ 120,780 $ 4,932 $ 34,935 $ (160,017) $ 55,980
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments (2,343) 1,057 6,461 22,772 � 27,947
Equity in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) of
Subsidiaries 29,832 28,712 369 6,461 (65,374) �

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 27,489 29,769 6,830 29,233 (65,374) 27,947

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 82,839 150,549 11,762 64,168 (225,391) 83,927
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to
Noncontrolling Interests � � � 1,088 � 1,088
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Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Iron
Mountain Incorporated $ 82,839 $ 150,549 $ 11,762 $ 63,080 $ (225,391) $ 82,839
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(5) Selected Consolidated Financial Statements of Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company and Non-Guarantors (Continued)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

Parent Guarantors
Canada
Company

Non-
Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues:
Storage Rental $ � $ 292,375 $ 31,549 $ 118,545 $ � $ 442,469
Service � 186,275 28,005 90,282 � 304,562

Total Revenues � 478,650 59,554 208,827 � 747,031
Operating Expenses:
Cost of Sales (Excluding Depreciation and Amortization) � 192,613 25,401 103,062 � 321,076
Selling, General and Administrative 27 157,807 9,046 56,571 � 223,451
Depreciation and Amortization 81 47,873 4,687 27,560 � 80,201
(Gain) Loss on Disposal/Write-down of Property, Plant and
Equipment, Net � (635) (42) 138 � (539)

Total Operating Expenses 108 397,658 39,092 187,331 � 624,189

Operating (Loss) Income (108) 80,992 20,462 21,496 � 122,842
Interest Expense (Income), Net 51,814 (6,173) 11,349 6,192 � 63,182
Other (Income) Expense, Net (33,027) (1,151) (3) 36,920 � 2,739

(Loss) Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision
(Benefit) for Income Taxes (18,895) 88,316 9,116 (21,616) � 56,921
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes � 33,905 3,035 1,631 � 38,571
Equity in the (Earnings) Losses of Subsidiaries, Net of Tax (38,281) 17,258 (742) (6,081) 27,846 �

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations 19,386 37,153 6,823 (17,166) (27,846) 18,350
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax � 81 � 2,103 � 2,184

Net Income (Loss) 19,386 37,234 6,823 (15,063) (27,846) 20,534
Less: Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests � � � 1,148 � 1,148

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Iron Mountain Incorporated $ 19,386 $ 37,234 $ 6,823 $ (16,211) $ (27,846) $ 19,386

Net Income (Loss) $ 19,386 $ 37,234 $ 6,823 $ (15,063) $ (27,846) $ 20,534
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments 2,514 850 (7,049) (11,262) � (14,947)
Equity in Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income of
Subsidiaries            (17,476) (18,336) (395) (7,049) 43,256 �

Total Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income (14,962) (17,486) (7,444) (18,311) 43,256 (14,947)

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 4,424 19,748 (621) (33,374) 15,410 5,587
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests � � � 1,163 � 1,163

Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Iron Mountain
Incorporated $ 4,424 $ 19,748 $ (621) $ (34,537) $ 15,410 $ 4,424
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(5) Selected Consolidated Financial Statements of Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company and Non-Guarantors (Continued)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Parent Guarantors
Canada
Company

Non-
Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Flows from Operating Activities�Continuing Operations $ (40,455) $ 100,211 $ 4,108 $ 15,195 $ � $ 79,059
Cash Flows from Operating Activities�Discontinued Operations � (2,415) � (1,760) � (4,175)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities (40,455) 97,796 4,108 13,435 � 74,884
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures � (31,371) (2,828) (21,717) � (55,916)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired � (8,818) � � � (8,818)
Intercompany loans to subsidiaries 116,821 (19,330) � � (97,491) �
Investment in restricted cash (2) � � � � (2)
Additions to customer relationship and acquisition costs � (2,523) (62) (423) � (3,008)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment and other, net � 1,885 5 (37) � 1,853

Cash Flows from Investing Activities�Continuing Operations 116,819 (60,157) (2,885) (22,177) (97,491) (65,891)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities�Discontinued Operations � (25) � (1,116) � (1,141)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 116,819 (60,182) (2,885) (23,293) (97,491) (67,032)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Repayment of revolving credit and term loan facilities and other debt � (623,221) (715) (11,603) � (635,539)
Proceeds from revolving credit and term loan facilities and other
debt � 700,000 � 1,105 � 701,105
Debt financing (repayment to) and equity contribution from
(distribution to) noncontrolling interests, net � � � 191 � 191
Intercompany loans from parent � (116,998) (2,860) 22,367 97,491 �
Stock repurchases (38,052) � � � � (38,052)
Parent cash dividends (43,180) � � � � (43,180)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock
purchase plan 1,321 � � � � 1,321
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 190 � � � � 190
Payment of debt financing costs � (93) � � � (93)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities�Continuing Operations (79,721) (40,312) (3,575) 12,060 97,491 (14,057)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities�Discontinued Operations � � � (39) � (39)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities (79,721) (40,312) (3,575) 12,021 97,491 (14,096)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents � � 1,623 3,069 � 4,692

(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,357) (2,698) (729) 5,232 � (1,552)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 3,428 10,750 68,907 96,760 � 179,845

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 71 $ 8,052 $ 68,178 $ 101,992 $ � $ 178,293
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(5) Selected Consolidated Financial Statements of Parent, Guarantors, Canada Company and Non-Guarantors (Continued)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

Parent Guarantors
Canada
Company

Non-
Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Flows from Operating Activities�Continuing Operations            $ (47,266) $ 118,974 $ 4,161 $ 29,866 $ � $ 105,735
Cash Flows from Operating Activities�Discontinued Operations � (90) � 960 � 870

Cash Flows from Operating Activities (47,266) 118,884 4,161 30,826 � 106,605
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures � (61,795) (1,983) (31,640) � (95,418)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired � 74 � � � 74
Intercompany loans to subsidiaries 95,719 (2,177) � � (93,542) �
Investment in subsidiaries (3,500) (3,500) � � 7,000 �
Investment in restricted cash (1) � � � � (1)
Additions to customer relationship and acquisition costs � (3,055) (70) (1,511) � (4,636)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment and other, net � 12 (3,191) 2,662 � (517)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities�Continuing Operations            92,218 (70,441) (5,244) (30,489) (86,542) (100,498)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities�Discontinued Operations � (10) � � � (10)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 92,218 (70,451) (5,244) (30,489) (86,542) (100,508)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Repayment of revolving credit and term loan facilities and other debt � (349,550) (850) (4,967) � (355,367)
Proceeds from revolving credit and term loan facilities and other debt � 386,300 � 206 � 386,506
Debt financing (repayment to) and equity contribution from
(distribution to) noncontrolling interests, net � � � 194 � 194
Intercompany loans from parent � (97,554) (2,197) 6,209 93,542 �
Equity contribution from parent � 3,500 � 3,500 (7,000) �
Parent cash dividends (51,662) � � � � (51,662)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase
plan 5,005 � � � � 5,005
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 1,705 � � � � 1,705
Payment of debt financing costs � (469) � � � (469)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities�Continuing Operations            (44,952) (57,773) (3,047) 5,142 86,542 (14,088)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities�Discontinued Operations � � � � � �

Cash Flows from Financing Activities (44,952) (57,773) (3,047) 5,142 86,542 (14,088)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents � � (2,311) (3,114) � (5,425)

(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivalents � (9,340) (6,441) 2,365 � (13,416)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period � 13,472 103,500 126,443 � 243,415

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ � $ 4,132 $ 97,059 $ 128,808 $ � $ 229,999
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(6) Segment Information

        Our reportable operating segments and Corporate are described as follows:

�
North American Business�storage and information management services throughout the United States and Canada, including
the storage of paper documents, as well as other media such as microfilm and microfiche, master audio and videotapes, film,
X-rays and blueprints, including healthcare information services, vital records services, service and courier operations, and
the collection, handling and disposal of sensitive documents for corporate customers ("Hard Copy"); the storage and rotation
of backup computer media as part of corporate disaster recovery plans, including service and courier operations ("Data
Protection & Recovery"); information destruction services ("Destruction"); the scanning, imaging and document conversion
services of active and inactive records ("DMS"); the storage, assembly, and detailed reporting of customer marketing
literature and delivery to sales offices, trade shows and prospective customers' sites based on current and prospective
customer orders; and technology escrow services that protect and manage source code.

�
International Business�storage and information management services throughout Europe, Latin America and Asia Pacific,
including Hard Copy, Data Protection & Recovery, Destruction and DMS. Our European operations provide Hard Copy,
Data Protection & Recovery and DMS throughout Europe, and Destruction services are primarily provided in the United
Kingdom and Ireland. Our Latin America operations provide Hard Copy, Data Protection & Recovery, Destruction and
DMS throughout Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Mexico and Peru. Our Asia Pacific operations provide Hard Copy, Data
Protection & Recovery, Destruction and DMS throughout Australia, with Hard Copy and Data Protection & Recovery
services also provided in certain cities in India, Singapore, Hong Kong-SAR and China.

�
Corporate�consists of costs related to executive and staff functions, including finance, human resources and information
technology, which benefit the enterprise as a whole. These costs are primarily related to the general management of these
functions on a corporate level and the design and development of programs, policies and procedures that are then
implemented in the individual segments, with each segment bearing its own cost of implementation. Corporate also includes
stock-based employee compensation expense associated with all Employee Stock-Based Awards.
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(6) Segment Information (Continued)

        An analysis of our business segment information and reconciliation to the Consolidated Financial Statements is as follows:

North
American
Business

International
Business Corporate

Total
Consolidated

Three Months Ended March 31, 2012
Total Revenues $ 552,311 $ 194,187 $ � $ 746,498
Depreciation and Amortization 44,514 25,407 8,087 78,008
Depreciation 41,396 20,701 8,052 70,149
Amortization 3,118 4,706 35 7,859
Adjusted OIBDA 226,349 43,559 (47,357) 222,551
Total Assets(1) 4,228,281 1,666,245 192,096 6,086,622
Expenditures for Segment Assets 39,336 20,294 8,112 67,742
Capital Expenditures 27,933 19,871 8,112 55,916
Cash Paid for Acquisitions, Net of Cash Acquired 8,818 � � 8,818
Additions to Customer Relationship and Acquisition Costs 2,585 423 � 3,008
Three Months Ended March 31, 2013
Total Revenues 542,478 204,553 � 747,031
Depreciation and Amortization 45,368 27,006 7,827 80,201
Depreciation 41,869 20,432 7,794 70,095
Amortization 3,499 6,574 33 10,106
Adjusted OIBDA 223,272 47,898 (43,694) 227,476
Total Assets(1) 4,297,699 1,808,829 191,652 6,298,180
Expenditures for Segment Assets 49,781 33,028 17,171 99,980
Capital Expenditures 46,730 31,517 17,171 95,418
Cash Paid (Received) for Acquisitions, Net of Cash Acquired (74) � � (74)
Additions to Customer Relationship and Acquisition Costs 3,125 1,511 � 4,636

(1)
Excludes all intercompany receivables or payables and investment in subsidiary balances.

        The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2. Adjusted OIBDA for each segment is defined
as operating income before depreciation, amortization, intangible impairments, (gain) loss on disposal/write-down of property, plant and
equipment, net and REIT Costs (defined below) directly attributable to the segment. Internally, we use Adjusted OIBDA as the basis for
evaluating the performance of, and allocating resources to, our operating segments.
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(6) Segment Information (Continued)

        A reconciliation of Adjusted OIBDA to income from continuing operations before provision (benefit) for income taxes on a consolidated
basis is as follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2012 2013
Adjusted OIBDA $ 222,551 $ 227,476
Less: Depreciation and Amortization 78,008 80,201
Loss (Gain) on Disposal/Write-down of Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 719 (539)
REIT Costs(1) 2,011 24,972
Interest Expense, Net 58,784 63,182
Other (Income) Expense, Net (3,304) 2,739

Income from Continuing Operations before Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes $ 86,333 $ 56,921

(1)
Includes costs associated with our 2011 proxy contest, the work of the Strategic Review Special Committee of the board of directors
and the proposed REIT conversion ("REIT Costs").

(7) Commitments and Contingencies

a.
Litigation�General

        We are involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business. A portion of the defense and/or settlement costs
associated with such litigation is covered by various commercial liability insurance policies purchased by us and, in limited cases,
indemnification from third parties. Our policy is to establish reserves for loss contingencies when the losses are both probable and reasonably
estimable. We record legal costs associated with loss contingencies as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. The matters described
below represent our significant loss contingencies. We have evaluated each matter and, if both probable and estimable, accrued an amount that
represents our estimate of any probable loss associated with such matter. In addition, we have estimated a reasonably possible range for all loss
contingencies including those described below. We believe it is reasonably possible that we could incur aggregate losses in addition to amounts
currently accrued for all matters up to an additional $34,000 over the next several years.

b.
Government Contract Billing Matter

        Since October 2001, we have provided services to the U.S. Government under several General Services Administration ("GSA") multiple
award schedule contracts (the "Schedules"). The earliest of the Schedules was renewed in October 2006 with certain modifications to its terms.
The Schedules contain a price reductions clause ("Price Reductions Clause") that requires us to offer to reduce the prices billed to the
Government under the Schedules to correspond to the prices billed to certain
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(7) Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

benchmark commercial customers. Through March 31, 2013, we billed approximately $56,000 under the Schedules. In 2011, we initiated an
internal review covering the contract period commencing in October 2006, and we discovered potential non-compliance with the Price
Reductions Clause. We voluntarily disclosed the potential non-compliance to the GSA and its Office of Inspector General ("OIG") in June 2011.

        We continue to review this matter and provide the GSA and OIG with information regarding our pricing practices and the proposed pricing
adjustment amount to be refunded. The GSA and OIG, however, may not agree with our determination of the refund amount and may request
additional pricing adjustments, refunds, civil penalties, up to treble damages and/or interest related to our Schedules.

        In April 2012, the U.S. Government sent us a subpoena seeking information that substantially overlaps with the subjects that are covered by
the voluntary disclosure process that we initiated with the GSA and OIG in June 2011, except that the subpoena seeks information dating back to
2000 and seeks information about non-GSA federal and state and local customers. Despite the substantial overlap, we understand that the
subpoena relates to a separate inquiry, under the civil False Claims Act, that has been initiated independent of the GSA and OIG voluntary
disclosure matter. We cannot determine at this time whether this separate inquiry will result in liability in addition to the amount that may be
paid in connection with the voluntary disclosure to the OIG and GSA described above.

        Given the above, it is reasonably possible that an adjustment to our estimates may be required in the future as a result of updated facts and
circumstances. To the extent that an adjustment to our estimates is necessary in a future period, we will assess, at that time, whether the
adjustment is a result of a change in estimate or the correction of an error. A change in estimate would be reflected as an adjustment through the
then-current period statement of operations. A correction of an error would require a quantitative and qualitative analysis to determine the
approach to correcting the error. A correction of an error could be reflected in the then-current period statement of operations or as a restatement
of prior period financial information, depending upon the underlying facts and circumstances and our quantitative and qualitative analysis.

c.
State of Massachusetts Assessment

        During the third quarter of 2012, we applied for abatement of assessments from the state of Massachusetts. The assessments related to a
corporate excise audit of the 2004 through 2006 tax years in the aggregate amount of $8,191, including tax, interest and penalties through the
assessment date. The applications for abatement were denied during the third quarter of 2012. On October 19, 2012 we filed petitions with the
Massachusetts Appellate Tax Board challenging the assessments. The final outcome of this matter may require payment of additional corporate
excise tax, which consists of two measures, an income tax, which is a component of the provision for income taxes, and a net worth tax, which is
an operating charge. We intend to defend this matter vigorously at the Massachusetts Appellate Tax Board. In addition, we are near the end of a
corporate excise audit by the state of Massachusetts for the 2007 and 2008 tax years. The adjustments being proposed are for issues
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(7) Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

consistent with those assessed in the earlier years. The state has recently begun an audit of the 2009-2011 tax years.

d.
Italy Fire

        On November 4, 2011, we experienced a fire at a facility we leased in Aprilia, Italy. The facility primarily stored archival and inactive
business records for local area businesses. Despite quick response by local fire authorities, damage to the building was extensive, and the
building and its contents were a total loss. We continue to assess the impact of the fire, and, although our warehouse legal liability insurer has
reserved its rights to contest coverage related to certain types of potential claims, we believe we carry adequate insurance. We have been sued by
three customers, and have received correspondence from other customers, under various theories of liabilities. We deny any liability with respect
to the fire and we have referred these claims to our warehouse legal liability insurer for an appropriate response. We do not expect that this event
will have a material impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. As discussed in Note 9, we sold our
Italian operations on April 27, 2012, and we indemnified the buyers related to certain obligations and contingencies associated with the fire.

        Our policy related to business interruption insurance recoveries is to record gains within other (income) expense, net in our consolidated
statement of operations and proceeds received within cash flows from operating activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows. Such
amounts are recorded in the period the cash is received. Our policy with respect to involuntary conversion of property, plant and equipment is to
record any gain or loss within (gain) loss on disposal/write-down of property, plant and equipment, net within operating income in our
consolidated statement of operations and proceeds received within cash flows from investing activities within our consolidated statement of cash
flows. Losses are recorded when incurred and gains are recorded in the period when the cash received exceeds the carrying value of the related
property, plant and equipment. As a result of the sale of the Italian operations, statements of operation and cash flow impacts related to the fire
will be reflected as discontinued operations.

(8) Stockholders' Equity Matters

        Our board of directors has authorized up to $1,200,000 in repurchases of our common stock. All repurchases are subject to stock price,
market conditions, corporate and legal requirements and other factors. As of March 31, 2013, we had a remaining amount available for
repurchase under our share repurchase program of $66,035, which represents approximately 1% in the aggregate of our outstanding common
stock based on the closing stock price on such date.

        In February 2010, our board of directors adopted a dividend policy under which we have paid, and in the future intend to pay, quarterly
cash dividends on our common stock. Declaration and payment of
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(8) Stockholders' Equity Matters (Continued)

future quarterly dividends is at the discretion of our board of directors. In 2012 and in the first quarter of 2013, our board of directors declared
the following dividends:

Declaration
Date

Dividend
Per Share

Record
Date

Total
Amount

Payment
Date

March 8, 2012 0.2500 March 23, 2012 $ 42,791 April 13, 2012
June 5, 2012 0.2700 June 22, 2012 46,336 July 13, 2012

September 6, 2012 0.2700 September 25, 2012 46,473 October 15, 2012
October 11, 2012 4.0600 October 22, 2012 700,000 November 21, 2012

December 14, 2012 0.2700 December 26, 2012 51,296 January 17, 2013
March 14, 2013 0.2700 March 25, 2013 51,460 April 15, 2013

        On October 11, 2012, we announced the declaration by our board of directors of a special dividend of $700,000 (the "Special Dividend"),
payable, at the election of the stockholders, in either common stock or cash to stockholders of record as of October 22, 2012 (the "Record
Date"). The Special Dividend, which is a distribution to stockholders of a portion of our accumulated earnings and profits, was paid in a
combination of common stock and cash. The Special Dividend was paid on November 21, 2012 (the "Distribution Date") to stockholders as of
the Record Date. Stockholders elected to be paid their pro rata portion of the Special Dividend in all common stock or cash. The total amount of
cash paid to all stockholders associated with the Special Dividend was approximately $140,000 (including cash paid in lieu of fractional shares).
Our shares of common stock were valued for purposes of the Special Dividend based upon the average closing price on the three trading days
following November 14, 2012, or $32.87 per share, and as such, the number of shares of common stock we issued in the Special Dividend was
approximately 17,000 and the total amount of common stock paid to all stockholders associated with the Special Dividend was approximately
$560,000. These shares impact weighted average shares outstanding from the date of issuance, thus impacting our earnings per share data
prospectively from the Distribution Date.

(9) Discontinued Operations

Digital Operations

        On June 2, 2011, we sold the Digital Business to Autonomy pursuant to the Digital Sale Agreement. In the Digital Sale, Autonomy
purchased (1) the shares of certain of IMI's subsidiaries through which we conducted the Digital Business and (2) certain assets of IMI and its
subsidiaries relating to the Digital Business. The Digital Sale qualified as discontinued operations and, as a result, the financial position,
operating results and cash flows of the Digital Business, for all periods presented, have been reported as discontinued operations for financial
reporting purposes.
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(9) Discontinued Operations (Continued)

        The table below summarizes certain results of operations of the Digital Business for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013:

Three Months
Ended

March 31,

2012 2013
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes of Discontinued Operations $ 755 $ 88
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes 291 7

Income (loss) from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax $ 464 $ 81

Italian Operations

        We sold our Italian operations on April 27, 2012, and we agreed to indemnify the buyers of our Italian operations for certain possible
obligations and contingencies associated with the fire in Italy discussed more fully in Note 7.d. Our Italian operations were previously included
within the International Business segment. For all periods presented, the financial position, operating results and cash flows of our Italian
operations have been reported as discontinued operations for financial reporting purposes.

        The table below summarizes certain results of our Italian operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013:

Three Months
Ended

March 31,

2012 2013
Total Revenues $ 2,138 $ �

(Loss) Income Before (Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes of Discontinued Operations $ (6,124) $ 2,712
(Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes (567) 609

(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax $ (5,557) $ 2,103
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Item 2.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2013
should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto for the three months ended March 31, 2013,
included herein, and for the year ended December 31, 2012, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2013 (our "Annual
Report").

 FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

        We have made statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that constitute "forward-looking statements" as that term is defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other securities laws. These forward-looking statements concern our operations, economic
performance, financial condition, goals, beliefs, future growth strategies, investment objectives, plans and current expectations, such as our
(1) commitment to future dividend payments, (2) expected target leverage ratio, (3) expected internal revenue growth rate and capital
expenditures for 2013 and (4) proposed conversion to a real estate investment trust ("REIT") and the estimated range of tax payments and other
costs expected to be incurred in connection therewith. These forward-looking statements are subject to various known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors. When we use words such as "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "estimates" or similar expressions, we are
making forward-looking statements. Although we believe that our forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our
expected results may not be achieved, and actual results may differ materially from our expectations. Important factors that could cause actual
results to differ from expectations include, among others: (1) with regard to our proposed conversion to a REIT, in fact, there are significant
implementation and operational complexities to address before we can convert to a REIT, including obtaining a favorable private letter ruling
from the Internal Revenue Service, completing internal reorganizations and modifying accounting, information technology and real estate
systems, receiving stockholder approvals and making required stockholder payouts and we can provide no assurance when conversion to a REIT
will be successful, if at all; (2) with regard to our estimated tax and other REIT conversion costs, our estimates may not be accurate, and such
costs may turn out to be materially different than our estimates due to unanticipated outcomes in the private letter rulings ("PLR") from the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), changes in our support functions and support costs, the unsuccessful execution of internal planning, including
restructurings and cost reduction initiatives, or other factors; (3) realizing the anticipated benefits to stockholders of our proposed REIT
conversion, including the achievement of tax savings for us, increases in income distributable to stockholders, the potential to lower the cost of
financing through increased ownership of currently leased real estate, maximizing our enterprise value and the expansion of our stockholder
base; (4) the cost to comply with current and future laws, regulations and customer demands relating to privacy issues; (5) the impact of
litigation or disputes that may arise in connection with incidents in which we fail to protect our customers' information; (6) changes in the price
for our storage and information management services relative to the cost of providing such storage and information management services;
(7) changes in customer preferences and demand for our storage and information management services; (8) the adoption of alternative
technologies and shifts by our customers to storage of data through non-paper based technologies; (9) the cost or potential liabilities associated
with real estate necessary for our business; (10) the performance of business partners upon whom we depend for technical assistance or
management expertise outside the U.S.; (11) changes in the political and economic environments in the countries in which our international
subsidiaries operate; (12) claims that our technology violates the intellectual property rights of a third party; (13) changes in the cost of our debt;
(14) the impact of alternative, more attractive investments on dividends; (15) our ability or inability to complete acquisitions on satisfactory
terms and to integrate acquired companies efficiently; and (16) other trends
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in competitive or economic conditions affecting our financial condition or results of operations not presently contemplated. Other risks may
adversely impact us, as described more fully under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report. You should not rely upon forward-looking
statements except as statements of our present intentions and of our present expectations, which may or may not occur. You should read these
cautionary statements as being applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear. Except as required by law, we undertake no
obligation to release publicly the result of any revision to these forward-looking statements that may be made to reflect events or circumstances
after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various
disclosures we have made in this document, as well as our other periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

 Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted Operating Income Before Depreciation, Amortization, Intangible Impairments and REIT Costs ("Adjusted OIBDA")

        Adjusted OIBDA is defined as operating income before depreciation, amortization, intangible impairments, (gain) loss on
disposal/write-down of property, plant and equipment, net, and REIT Costs (as defined below). Adjusted OIBDA Margin is calculated by
dividing Adjusted OIBDA by total revenues. We use multiples of current or projected Adjusted OIBDA in conjunction with our discounted cash
flow models to determine our overall enterprise valuation and to evaluate acquisition targets. We believe Adjusted OIBDA and Adjusted
OIBDA Margin provide our current and potential investors with relevant and useful information regarding our ability to generate cash flow to
support business investment. These measures are an integral part of the internal reporting system we use to assess and evaluate the operating
performance of our business. Adjusted OIBDA does not include certain items that we believe are not indicative of our core operating results,
specifically: (1) (gain) loss on disposal/write-down of property, plant and equipment, net; (2) intangible impairments; (3) REIT Costs; (4) other
expense (income), net; (5) income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax; (6) gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax;
and (7) net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests.

        Adjusted OIBDA also does not include interest expense, net and the provision (benefit) for income taxes. These expenses are associated
with our capitalization and tax structures, which we do not consider when evaluating the operating profitability of our core operations. Finally,
Adjusted OIBDA does not include depreciation and amortization expenses, in order to eliminate the impact of capital investments, which we
evaluate by comparing capital expenditures to incremental revenue generated and as a percentage of total revenues. Adjusted OIBDA and
Adjusted OIBDA Margin should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, other measures of financial performance reported in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"), such as operating or net income (loss) or
cash flows from operating activities from continuing operations (as determined in accordance with GAAP).
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Reconciliation of Adjusted OIBDA to Operating Income (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2012 2013
Adjusted OIBDA $ 222,551 $ 227,476
Less: Depreciation and Amortization 78,008 80,201
Loss (Gain) on Disposal/Write-down of Property, Plant and Equipment, net 719 (539)
REIT Costs(1) 2,011 24,972

Operating Income $ 141,813 $ 122,842

(1)
Includes costs associated with our 2011 proxy contest, the work of the Strategic Review Special Committee of the board of directors
and the proposed REIT conversion ("REIT Costs").

Adjusted Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations ("Adjusted EPS")

        Adjusted EPS is defined as reported earnings per share from continuing operations excluding: (1) (gain) loss on disposal/write-down of
property, plant and equipment, net; (2) intangible impairments; (3) REIT Costs; (4) other expense (income), net; and (5) the tax impact of
reconciling items and discrete tax items. We do not believe these excluded items to be indicative of our ongoing operating results, and they are
not considered when we are forecasting our future results. We believe Adjusted EPS is of value to our current and potential investors when
comparing our results from past, present and future periods.

Reconciliation of Adjusted EPS�Fully Diluted from Continuing Operations to Reported EPS�Fully Diluted from Continuing Operations:

Three Months
Ended

March 31,

2012 2013
Adjusted EPS�Fully Diluted from Continuing Operations $ 0.29 $ 0.27
Less: Loss (Gain) on disposal/write-down of property, plant and equipment, net � �
REIT Costs 0.01 0.13
Other (Income) Expense, net (0.02) 0.01
Tax impact of reconciling items and discrete tax items (0.05) 0.03

Reported EPS�Fully Diluted from Continuing Operations $ 0.35 $ 0.10

 Critical Accounting Policies

        Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and for the period then ended. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate the estimates used. We base our
estimates on historical experience, actuarial estimates, current conditions and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
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